IMAGING POLARIZABLE DIPOLES

MAXENCE CASSIER AND FERNANDO GUEVARA VASQUEZ

ABSTRACT. We present a method for imaging the polarization vector of an electric dipole distribution in a homogeneous medium from measurements of the electric field made at a passive array. We study an electromagnetic version of Kirchhoff imaging and prove, in the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime, that range and cross-range resolution estimates are identical to those in acoustics. Our asymptotic analysis provides error estimates for the cross-range dipole orientation reconstruction and shows that the range component of the dipole orientation is lost in this regime. A naive generalization of the Kirchhoff imaging function is afflicted by oscillatory artifacts in range, that we characterize and correct. We also consider the active imaging problem which consists in imaging both the position and polarizability tensors of small scatterers in the medium using an array of collocated sources and receivers. As in the passive array case, we provide resolution estimates that are consistent with the acoustic case and give error estimates for the cross-range entries of the polarizability tensor. Our theoretical results are illustrated by numerical experiments.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. The passive imaging problem	3
2.1. The dyadic Green function	3
2.2. Mathematical formulation of the passive imaging problem	4
2.3. The dyadic Green function in the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime	5
2.4. The Kirchhoff imaging function in electromagnetics	6
2.5. Cross-range estimation of positions	7
2.6. Cross-range estimation of the polarization vectors	10
2.7. Range estimation of the position	12
2.8. Polarization vector recovery in the range direction	15
2.9. Numerical experiments for several dipoles	17
3. The active imaging problem	18
3.1. Mathematical formulation of the active imaging problem	19
3.2. Cross-range estimations of the position	21
3.3. Cross-range estimations of the polarizability tensors	21
3.4. Range estimation of the position	23
3.5. Polarizability tensor recovery in the range direction	24
3.6. Numerical experiments	26
4. Summary and future work	30
Appendix A. Proof of lemma 2.2	32
Appendix B. Polarizability tensors used in numerical experiments	32

²⁰⁰⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 35R30, 78A46.

 $Key\ words\ and\ phrases.$ Kirchhoff migration, Maxwell equations, polarizability tensor, polarization vector.

Acknowledgements References

1. INTRODUCTION

The behavior of small scatterers in a homogeneous medium and subject to an electromagnetic field can be well described by a polarizability tensor (see e.g. [22]), which characterizes the effective response of the scatterer to the incident electric field. We present here an imaging method that produces tensor valued images of the polarizability tensor in a medium, by using measurements made at an array of collocated sources and receivers. This is *active imaging* because the array generates waves to probe the medium and could have applications to radar [15]. We also consider the *passive imaging* problem which consists in imaging the location and polarization vector of small electromagnetic sources within the medium, from measurements of their emitted electrical field on a (passive) array of receivers.

The imaging technique we use here is an analogue of Kirchhoff imaging (see e.g. [8]) in electromagnetics. This a well-understood technique in acoustics for both passive and active imaging. To our knowledge Kirchhoff imaging has not been thoroughly studied for electromagnetics. In acoustics, the Kirchhoff image resolution in a plane parallel to the array (i.e. the cross-range) is given by the Rayleigh criterion $\lambda L/a$, where λ is the wavelength, L is the distance between the array and the imaging plane and a is array aperture (or diameter). The resolution in depth (in the range direction, perpendicular to the array) is governed by the frequency bandwidth B of the measurements and is given by c/B, where c is wave velocity in the medium. For a mathematical derivation of these resolution results see e.g. [9].

One could view the active imaging problem we consider as an inverse medium problem. In the full aperture case (i.e. when the array completely surrounds the medium) the inverse medium problem is known to have a unique solution for the Maxwell equations [23, 16] and linearized approaches (i.e. based on the Born approximation) exist, see e.g. [17]. The passive problem for electromagnetics has been studied in [19]. To our knowledge, this work presents the first error estimates for reconstruction of polarization vectors (for the passive problem) and polarizability tensors (for the active problem).

Another way of approaching the active imaging problem for small inclusions is to study the behavior of the measurements as the size of the inclusions is driven to zero. This was done for the conductivity equation in [14] and was used to image small inhomogeneities in a known conductive medium in e.g. [14, 12]. It was demonstrated that information about the shape of the inclusions (namely an ellipsoid approximation) can be obtained with this method [14]. This asymptotic expansion has been carried out for other equations, e.g. for the Maxwell equations [26]. The asymptotic expansion can actually be carried further, revealing the socalled generalized polarizability tensors [1] which encode more information about the shape of the inclusions [2]. This approach has been applied to acoustics [5] and in the context of electromagnetism to detect small dielectric inhomogeneities characterized by a contrast in permittivity and permeability (see [4, 3, 26] for the asymptotic analysis and [6] for the imaging application). We emphasize that in our approach we are not after the geometric properties of each inclusion separately. We only seek the first polarization tensor (or matrix¹) at an imaging point, whether there is a scatterer or not, and study the resolution and accuracy of this image.

Our paper is organized as follows. The passive imaging problem is studied in section 2. The active case is considered in section 3. We conclude with a brief summary and future in section 4.

2. The passive imaging problem

It is convenient to use the dyadic Green function to represent Maxwell equation solutions, so we recall it in section 2.1. Then in section 2.2 we define the passive imaging problem and the data we use to image. Our analysis relies on the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime which is detailed in section 2.3. The generalization of the Kirchhoff imaging function to a vector valued image is explained in section 2.4. The remaining sections include the analysis of different aspects of this imaging function. The resolution estimate of the position in a plane parallel to the array (cross-range direction) is done in section 2.5. The extraction of the dipole polarization vector data from the vector valued Kirchhoff image is done in section 2.6. Section 2.7 includes the resolution of the position in the range direction, i.e. the direction perpendicular to the array, and section 2.8 studies the variation in range of the image and shows how to mitigate oscillations in range of the reconstructed polarization vector. We complement the theory with numerical experiments in section 2.9.

2.1. The dyadic Green function. We consider an electromagnetic homogeneous medium characterized by its dielectric permittivity ε and magnetic permeability μ which define its constant speed of propagation $c = (\varepsilon \mu)^{-1/2}$. We denote by ω the angular frequency and $k = \omega/c$ the wavenumber and by $\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$ the matrix valued Green function associated with the time-harmonic Maxwell equations, i.e. the solution to

$$\operatorname{curl}_{\vec{x}} \operatorname{curl}_{\vec{x}} \mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k) - k^2 \mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k) = \mathbb{I} \,\delta_{\vec{y}}, \tag{1}$$

where I stands for the 3×3 identity matrix, $\delta_{\vec{y}}$ is the Dirac distribution at $\vec{x} = \vec{y}$ and $\operatorname{curl}_{\vec{x}}$ for the curl operator of a 3×3 matrix, defined as the curl of its three columns with respect to the \vec{x} variable. This so-called dyadic Green function $\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$, is given by (see e.g. [22])

$$\mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) = G(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) \left[(1 + m(kr))\mathbb{I} - (1 + 3m(kr))\frac{\vec{\boldsymbol{r}}\vec{\boldsymbol{r}}^{\top}}{r^2} \right],$$
(2)

where $\vec{r} = \vec{x} - \vec{y}$, $r = ||\vec{r}||$, $m(kr) \equiv (ikr - 1)/(kr)^2$ and $G(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$ is the acoustic Green function in three dimensions

$$G(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) = \frac{\exp[ik\|\vec{\boldsymbol{x}} - \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}\|]}{4\pi\|\vec{\boldsymbol{x}} - \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}\|}.$$

The dyadic Green function $\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$ is diagonalizable in an orthonormal basis because it is a normal matrix (i.e. $\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$ commutes with $\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)^* = \overline{\mathbb{G}}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$). Its eigenvalues are $\lambda_1(k, r) = -2m(kr)G(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$ (with multiplicity 1 and corresponding eigenvector \vec{r}/r) and $\lambda_2(k, r) = (1 + m(kr))G(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$ (with multiplicity 2 and eigenspace being the orthogonal of \vec{r}). We note that the largest eigenvalue

¹Since all tensors we consider are matrices, we interchangeably use "tensor" and "matrix".

in magnitude of $\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)$ is $\lambda_2(k, r)$ when $kr \gg 1$, and thus the Green function becomes increasingly ill-conditioned as $kr \to \infty$:

$$\operatorname{cond}(\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}; k)) = \frac{\|\lambda_2(k, r)\|}{\|\lambda_1(k, r)\|} = \left\|\frac{m(kr) + 1}{2m(kr)}\right\| = \frac{kr}{2} + \mathcal{O}(1).$$

2.2. Mathematical formulation of the passive imaging problem. We denote by *a* the characteristic size of an array \mathcal{A} of collocated transmitters and receivers. For example a square array in the z = 0 plane of side *a* is given by $\mathcal{A} = \{ \boldsymbol{x}_r \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid \|\boldsymbol{x}_r\|_{\infty} \leq a/2 \}$. Note that we drop the arrow for two dimensional vectors, i.e. $\boldsymbol{x}_r \in \mathbb{R}^2$ denotes the two first components of $\boldsymbol{x}_r \in \mathbb{R}^3$.

We consider a family of N radiating electric dipoles located at $\vec{y}_1, \vec{y}_2, \ldots, y_N$ with respective polarization vectors (also called dipole moments) $\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \ldots, \vec{p}_N$ (see figure 1).



FIGURE 1. Description of the passive imaging problem.

The electric field (see [22]) emitted by this family of dipoles is a solution to the following time-harmonic equation on \mathbb{R}^3

curl curl
$$\vec{E} - k^2 \vec{E} = \mu \omega^2 \sum_{n=1}^{N} \vec{p}_n \, \delta_{\vec{y}_n}$$

and thus can be expressed by virtue of (1) in terms of dyadic Green functions

$$\vec{\boldsymbol{E}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}};k) = \mu \, \omega^2 \sum_{j=1}^N \mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j;k) \, \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_j.$$

The passive imaging problem consists in finding the positions $\vec{y}_1, \ldots, \vec{y}_N$ and polarizations $\vec{p}_1, \ldots, \vec{p}_N$ of the electric dipoles from the data

$$\vec{\mathbf{\Pi}}(\boldsymbol{x}_r;k) = \mu \,\omega^2 \sum_{j=1}^N \mathbb{G}((\boldsymbol{x}_r,0), \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j;k) \, \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_j,$$
(3)

for $x_r \in \mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, in other words full measurements of the electrical field on the array \mathcal{A} . This is the best case scenario, as it assumes we can measure all three components of the electric field at each point of the array.

2.3. The dyadic Green function in the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime. Let $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta)$ and $\vec{x}_r = (x_r, 0)$ be respectively an imaging point and a receiver. The characteristic propagation distance here is L. We assume that the scatterers lie in a known imaging window (see figure 2) of characteristic size b in cross-range and h in range, i.e. $\|y\| = \mathcal{O}(b)$ and $|\eta| = \mathcal{O}(h)$. We assume we are in the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime, i.e. that the following scalings hold (see e.g. [10, 11]).

- $kL \gg 1$, (high frequency or large propagation distance)
- Fresnel number Θ_a ≡ ^{ka²}/_L ≪ kL, i.e. small aperture: a ≪ L,
 Fresnel number Θ_b ≡ ^{kb²}/_L ≪ kL, i.e. small imaging window in cross-range:
- $b \ll L$,
- Fresnel number $\Theta_h \equiv \frac{kh^2}{L} \ll kL$, i.e. small imaging window in range $h \ll L.$

Moreover we assume that

$$\Theta_b \ll 1, \ 1 \ll \Theta_a \ll \frac{L^2}{a^2}, \ \text{and} \ kh = \mathcal{O}(1)$$

which amount to assume that the imaging window is small compared to the array aperture, i.e. $b \ll a$.



FIGURE 2. Characteristic lengths involved in the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime.

We first approximate the acoustic Green function $G(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}; k)$ as in [10] by expanding the distance $\|\vec{x}_r - \vec{y}\|$:

$$\|\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r} - \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}\| = L\left(\frac{\|\boldsymbol{x}_{r} - \boldsymbol{y}\|^{2}}{L^{2}} + \left(1 + \frac{\eta}{L}\right)^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$= L\left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}}{L^{2}}\right)\right)$$
$$= L\left(1 + o(1)\right), \qquad (4)$$

since $kh = \mathcal{O}(1)$ implies that $\mathcal{O}(h/L) = \mathcal{O}(1/(kL)) = \mathcal{O}(a^2/(\Theta_a L^2)) = o(a^2/L^2).$

Expanding the phase leads to

$$k\|\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r} - \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}\| = kL\left(1 + \frac{\|\boldsymbol{x}_{r}\|^{2}}{L^{2}} + \frac{2\boldsymbol{x}_{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{y}}{L^{2}} + \frac{2\eta}{L} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b^{2}}{L^{2}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{h^{2}}{L^{2}}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$= kL + \frac{k\|\boldsymbol{x}_{r}\|^{2}}{2L} + \frac{k\boldsymbol{x}_{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{y}}{L} + k\eta + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_{b}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}\Theta_{a}}{L^{2}}\right)$$
$$= kL + \frac{k\|\boldsymbol{x}_{r}\|^{2}}{2L} + \frac{k\boldsymbol{x}_{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{y}}{L} + k\eta + o(1), \qquad (5)$$

since $kh = \mathcal{O}(1)$ implies that $\mathcal{O}(h\Theta_a/L) = \mathcal{O}(a^2/L^2) = o(a^2\Theta_a/L^2)$ and $\mathcal{O}(\Theta_h) = \mathcal{O}(h/L) = o(a^2/L^2)$.

Using (4) and (5), we get the following expansion for the acoustic Green function

$$G(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) = \widetilde{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_a}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_b\right) \right)$$
$$= \widetilde{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) \ (1 + o(1)), \tag{6}$$

where the Fraunhofer or paraxial approximation of the acoustic Green function is

$$\widetilde{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi L} \exp\left[i(kL + \frac{k\|\boldsymbol{x}_r\|^2}{2L} + \frac{k\boldsymbol{x}_r \cdot \boldsymbol{y}}{L} + k\eta)\right]$$

Using that $m(kr) = \mathcal{O}(1/kL)$, the dyadic Green function (2) becomes

$$\mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) = G(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) \left(\mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{kL}\right) \right),$$
(7)

where we used the orthogonal projector $\mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y})$ defined by

$$\mathbb{P}(ec{oldsymbol{x}}_r, ec{oldsymbol{y}}) = \mathbb{I} - rac{(ec{oldsymbol{x}}_r - ec{oldsymbol{y}})^{ op}}{\|ec{oldsymbol{x}}_r - ec{oldsymbol{y}}\|^2}.$$

Finally, combining the relations (6) and (7), we obtain the asymptotic of the dyadic Green function in the Fraunhofer regime:

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}; k) &= \widetilde{G}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}; k) \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}\Theta_{a}}{L^{2}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_{b}\right) \right) \left(\mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{kL}\right) \right) \\
&= \widetilde{G}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}; k) \left(\mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}\Theta_{a}}{L^{2}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_{b}\right) \right) \\
&= \widetilde{G}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}; k) \left(\mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}) + o(1)\right).
\end{aligned}$$
(8)

2.4. The Kirchhoff imaging function in electromagnetics. In acoustics, the Kirchhoff imaging function is, up to conjugation, time reversing the data recorded at the array and propagating it to the medium [8, 9, 25]. For the Maxwell equations we consider the analogous imaging function

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) = (\mu\omega^2)^{-1} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \,\overline{\mathbb{G}}((\boldsymbol{x}_r,0),\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) \,\vec{\boldsymbol{\Pi}}(\boldsymbol{x}_r;k). \tag{9}$$

In contrast with the acoustic case, the image we obtain is a vector field. Also the factor $(\mu\omega^2)^{-1}$ is there to offset a similar factor in the data (3) and simplifies our asymptotic analysis. The imaging function with data (3) is then

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; k) \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_j, \qquad (10)$$

where the 3×3 matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}', \vec{y}; k)$ is

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k) = \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \,\overline{\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}; k)} \,\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}'; k).$$
(11)

The image at \vec{y} of a dipole located at \vec{y}_* with polarization p_* is thus $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_*; k) p_*$. The matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_*; k)$ is thus, in some sense, a matrix valued point spread function for the Kirchhoff imaging function.

To analyze the Fraunhofer asymptotics of (10), we introduce for $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta)$ and $\vec{y}' = (y', L + \eta') \in \mathbb{R}^3$ the 3 × 3 matrix $\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k)$ defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k) = \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \,\overline{\widetilde{G}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}; k)} \widetilde{G}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}'; k) \mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}) \mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}') \\ = \frac{\exp[\mathrm{i}k(\eta' - \eta)]}{(4\pi L)^2} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \, \exp\left[\mathrm{i}k\left(\frac{\boldsymbol{x}_r \cdot (\boldsymbol{y}' - \boldsymbol{y})}{L}\right)\right] \mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}) \mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}').$$
(12)

Proposition 2.1. The Kirchhoff imaging function (10) associated with data (3) is, in the Fraunhofer regime,

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{j};k) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{4}\Theta_{a}}{L^{4}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}\Theta_{b}}{L^{2}}\right) \right] \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_{j}.$$
 (13)

Proof. Using the asymptotic of the dyadic Green function (8), one can rewrite the matrices $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_i; k)$ in the imaging function (10) as

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_j; k) = \widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_j; k) + \mathbb{E}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_j; k)$$
(14)

with a matrix $\mathbb{E}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_i; k)$ whose asymptotic is given by:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; k) &= \frac{1}{(4\pi L)^2} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \left(\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_a}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_b\right) \right) \\ &= \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4 \Theta_a}{L^4}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_b}{L^2}\right). \end{split}$$

This last asymptotic follows from two facts. First the matrix norm of the orthogonal projectors $\mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y})$ and $\mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}')$ is uniformly bounded in \mathcal{A} (for any matrix norm choice). Second, the area of the array \mathcal{A} is $\mathcal{O}(a^2)$.

2.5. Cross-range estimation of positions. We start by analyzing the spatial resolution of the Kirchhoff imaging function (10). This is done by looking at the decay properties of the point spread function $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_*; k)$ for \vec{y} away from a fixed dipole location \vec{y}_* . This decay comes from the (approximate) orthogonality of the acoustic Green functions $G(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}_*; k)$ and $G(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}; k)$ as functions of x_r in $L^2(\mathcal{A})$ and when \vec{y} and \vec{y}_* are "well separated", see [9, 13, 25].

Since the imaging function is linear in the data we consider (without loss of generality) the case of a single obstacle located at $\vec{y}_* = (y_*, L + \eta_*)$. This is valid if we assume that the dipole polarizations have the same order of magnitude (i.e. $\|\vec{p}_i\| = \mathcal{O}(1), i = 1, ..., N$) and this implicitly assumed in the following. The resolution analysis in this section is done in the cross-range plane $z = L + \eta_*$ passing through the single obstacle. The range analysis is done later in section 2.7. The main result of this section is summarized by the following proposition.

Proposition 2.2 (Imaging function decrease in cross-range). The Kirchhoff imaging function (10) of a dipole located at $\vec{y}_* = (y_*, L + \eta_*)$ and evaluated at $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta_*)$ satisfies for $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta_*)$ with $y \neq y_*$

$$\|\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)\| = \frac{a^2}{L^2} \left(\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{L}{a\,k\,\|\boldsymbol{y}-\boldsymbol{y}_*\|}\right) + o(1) \right),\tag{15}$$

where the o(1) is explicitly given by $\mathcal{O}(a^2\Theta_a/L^2) + \mathcal{O}(\Theta_b)$. When the shape of the array \mathcal{A} is a disk of radius a, one has

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*;k) = \frac{a^2}{16\pi L^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_* + o\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right).$$
(16)

Concretely, the asymptotics (15) and (16) in proposition 2.2 means that the image decays as we move away from the dipole location \vec{y}_* . The image is asymptotically zero compared to its value at \vec{y}_* , when $||\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}_*||$ is large with respect to L/ak. Hence the size of the focal spot in the cross-range is given by the Rayleigh resolution L/(ak), as is the case in acoustics (see e.g. [8, 9]).

Remark 2.1. In the particular case where the dipole polarization is aligned with the z-axis, the image at the dipole location is $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{KM}(\vec{y}_*;k) = o(a^2/L^2)$ (see (16)). We estimated in (15) that the imaging function is small compared to a^2/L^2 for imaging points far way from the dipole location. Therefore it is not clear from this analysis if the image reveals the position of such a dipole. This case is considered later in section 2.7, when we consider multi-frequency images.

The proof of proposition 2.2 is a direct consequence of two results. The first one shows the decay of property of the image function using a stationary phase argument (lemma 2.1). The second one, explicitly calculates the value of the image at the dipole location using a circular array (lemma 2.2).

Lemma 2.1. For $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta)$, $\vec{y}' = (y', L + \eta')$ with $\vec{y} \neq \vec{y}'$, the matrix $\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k)$ defined by (12) satisfies

$$\left\|\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}'; k)\right\| = \frac{a^2}{L^2} \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{L}{a \, k \, \|\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}'\|}\right),\tag{17}$$

where the constant in the \mathcal{O} notation depends only on the shape of the array \mathcal{A} and the depth of the imaging window.

Proof. To avoid writing a phase term many times, we introduce the matrix

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}'(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}'; k) = \exp[-\mathrm{i}k(\eta - \eta')]\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}'; k),$$
(18)

which satisfies $\|\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}'(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k)\| = \|\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k)\|$. To prove (17), it is more convenient to use the rescaled array $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = a^{-1}\mathcal{A}$. By the change of variable $\widetilde{x}_r = x_r/a$, we can rewrite the matrix $\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}'(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k)$ defined by (12) and (18) as

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}'(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}'; k) = \frac{a^2}{(4\pi L)^2} \int_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} d\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r \exp\left[\frac{\mathrm{i}ka}{L} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r \cdot (\boldsymbol{y}' - \boldsymbol{y})\right] \mathbb{P}(a\widetilde{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) \mathbb{P}(a\widetilde{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}'), \quad (19)$$

where $\vec{x}_r = (\tilde{x}_r, 0)$. Then, we follow the method proposed in [27], based on an integration by parts, to study the asymptotic of multivariate oscillating integrals. We denote by f the scalar function:

$$f(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r) = \frac{ka}{L} \left[\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r \cdot (\boldsymbol{y}' - \boldsymbol{y}) \right],$$

$$\mathbb{M}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}, \vec{y}') = \left(\mathbb{P}(a\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}) \mathbb{P}(a\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}') \right)_{p,q} \text{ and } \mathbb{K}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}, \vec{y}') = \|\nabla_{\widetilde{x}_r} \mathbb{M}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}, \vec{y}')\|,$$

for $p, q \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ on the rescaled array $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$. Using the identity:

$$\operatorname{div}_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r}}\left(\frac{\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r}}}{\|\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r}}\|^{2}}\mathbb{M}_{p,q}e^{\mathrm{i}f}\right) = e^{\mathrm{i}f}\operatorname{div}_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r}}\left(\frac{\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r}}}{\|\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r}}\|^{2}}\mathbb{M}_{p,q}\right) + \mathrm{i}\,e^{\mathrm{i}f}\mathbb{M}_{p,q}$$

and the divergence theorem, we can rewrite the entries of $\mathbb{H}'(\vec{y}, \vec{y}'; k)$ as

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}_{p,q}'(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}';k) = \frac{-\mathrm{i}a^2}{(4\pi L)^2 \|\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r}\|} \left[\int_{\partial\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} \mathrm{d}\gamma \, \frac{\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r}}{\|\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r}\|} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \, \mathbb{M}_{p,q} e^{\mathrm{i}f} - \int_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r \, e^{\mathrm{i}f} \, \mathrm{div}_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r} \left(\frac{\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r}}{\|\nabla f_{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r}\|} \mathbb{M}_{p,q} \right) \right].$$

Replacing $\nabla f_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r}$ by its constant value $(ka/L)(\boldsymbol{y}'-\boldsymbol{y})$, expressing the divergence of the second integral and then using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we obtain

$$\|\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}'(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}'; k)_{pq}\| \leq \frac{(4\pi)^{-2}a}{k L \|\boldsymbol{y}' - \boldsymbol{y}\|} \left(\int_{\partial \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} \mathrm{d}\gamma \, |\mathbb{M}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}')| + \int_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r \mathbb{K}_{pq}(\widetilde{\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}') \right).$$
(20)

As the entries of an orthogonal projection are dominated by 1, we have

$$|\mathbb{M}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}, \vec{y}')| \le \sum_{l=1}^3 |\mathbb{P}_{p,l}(\widetilde{a}\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y})| |\mathbb{P}_{l,q}(\widetilde{a}\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}')| \le 3$$

which leads immediately to

$$\int_{\partial \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} \mathrm{d}\gamma \left| \mathbb{M}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{y}') \right| \le 3 \operatorname{mes} \partial \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}, \tag{21}$$

where mes $\partial \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$ is the perimeter of $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$. A direct calculation gives

$$|\nabla \mathbb{P}_{p,q}(a\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y})| \le 2a|L+\eta|^{-1},$$

for all points $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ with $L + \eta \neq 0$. Applying this inequality and the fact that the entries of an orthogonal projector are bounded by 1 we get

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{K}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}, \vec{y}') &\leq \sum_{k=1}^3 |\nabla \mathbb{P}_{p,k}(a\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y})| \, |\mathbb{P}_{k,q}(\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}')| + |\mathbb{P}_{p,k}(a\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y})| \, |\nabla \mathbb{P}_{k,q}(\widetilde{\vec{x}}_r, \vec{y}')| \\ &\leq 12 \, a \, \max(|L+\eta|^{-1}, |L+\eta'|^{-1}). \end{split}$$

This last inequality leads immediately to

$$\int_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r \mathbb{K}_{p,q}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{y}') \le 12 \, a \, \operatorname{mes}(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}) \operatorname{max}(|L+\eta|^{-1}, |L+\eta'|^{-1}) = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a}{L}\right) = o(1),$$
(22)

where $\operatorname{mes}(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}})$ is the area of $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$. Finally, the asymptotic (17) for the matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}'; k)$ follows from the relations (20), (21), (22) and using the sup norm for the entries of a matrix. By equivalence of norms, it also holds for other matrix norms. \Box

We now continue with lemma 2.2 and study the asymptotics of $\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}_*, \vec{y}_*; k)$. This is a special case because the integral (12) is not oscillatory, is independent of k and simplifies to

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*,\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*;k) = \frac{1}{(4\pi L)^2} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \, \mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r,\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*).$$

We compute explicitly this integral when the array is a disk, but this could be generalized to other simple geometries.

Lemma 2.2. When the array A is a disk of radius a, we have the asymptotic

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}_*, \vec{y}_*; k) = \frac{a^2}{16\pi L^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2b}{L^3}\right).$$
(23)

For the proof of lemma 2.2, see appendix A.

Proof of proposition 2.2. The proof is a direct consequence of proposition 2.1, lemmas 2.2 and 2.1 and the fact that the polarization vectors \vec{p}_i are assumed to have order one length.

2.6. Cross-range estimation of the polarization vectors. We now extract from the Kirchhoff imaging function for N dipoles (10) information about the polarization vectors $\vec{p}_1, \ldots, \vec{p}_N$. Assuming the dipole positions $\vec{y}_1, \ldots, \vec{y}_N$ are known, the polarization vectors \vec{p}_i must satisfy

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i; k) \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_i = \vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i; k) - \sum_{j \neq i}^N \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; k) \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_j, \ i = 1, \dots, N.$$
(24)

If the dipoles are distant enough from each other, lemma 2.1 guarantees that the coupling terms $\sum_{j\neq i}^{N} \mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_j; k) \vec{p}_j$ remain small. Thus we estimate the \vec{p}_i by solving the linear system,

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i; k) \vec{\boldsymbol{p}} = \vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i; k), \ i = 1, \dots, N.$$
(25)

Unfortunately, the systems (25) are ill-conditioned. Indeed, for a circular array of radius a, the Fraunhofer asymptotic of the matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; k)$ (proposition 2.1 and lemma 2.2) gives

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_{i}, \vec{y}_{i}; k) = \widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}_{i}, \vec{y}_{i}; k) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{4}\Theta_{a}}{L^{4}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}\Theta_{b}}{L^{2}}\right) \qquad (26)$$

$$= \frac{a^{2}}{16\pi L^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}b}{L^{3}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{4}\Theta_{a}}{L^{4}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{2}\Theta_{b}}{L^{2}}\right).$$

Thus the matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; k)$ is asymptotically a singular matrix and one cannot expect retrieving the z-component $p_{i,z}$ of $\vec{p}_i = (p_i, p_{i,z})$. The same asymptotic (26) reveals that the 2 × 2 block of $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; k)$ (corresponding to the two components p_i of \vec{p}_i) is invertible, with condition number close to 1.

We now derive an error estimate on p_i . To this end we denote by $\mathcal{I}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{y};k)$ the first two components of the imaging function $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{y};k)$ and rewrite

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}', \vec{y}; k) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y}', \vec{y}; k) & \mathbb{H}_{1:2,3}(\vec{y}', \vec{y}; k) \\ \mathbb{H}_{3,1:2}(\vec{y}', \vec{y}; k) & \mathbb{H}_{3,3}(\vec{y}', \vec{y}; k) \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^{3 \times 3},$$
(27)

where $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y}',\vec{y};k)$, is the 2 × 2 first principal submatrix of $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}',\vec{y};k)$, etc...

Proposition 2.3. Let \mathcal{A} be a circular array \mathcal{A} of radius a. In the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime, the 2×2 system

$$\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)\,\boldsymbol{p} = \mathcal{I}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) \tag{28}$$

is invertible. The solution \mathbf{p} (which depends on the imaging point \vec{y}) approximates the true cross-range polarization vector \mathbf{p}_i according to the following estimates

• If the imaging point coincides with a dipole, i.e. $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$,

$$\|\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{p}_i\| = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{L}{a k \min_{j \neq i} \|\boldsymbol{y}_i - \boldsymbol{y}_j\|}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_a}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_b\right).$$
(29)

• If the imaging point does not coincide with a dipole in range, i.e. if $y \neq y_j$ for all j = 1, ..., N,

$$\|\boldsymbol{p}\| = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{L}{a \, k \min_{j=1,\dots,N} \|\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}_j\|}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_a}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_b\right). \tag{30}$$

Proof. The asymptotic expansion (26) of $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}; k)$ yields immediately that for the induced matrix 2-norm,

$$\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) = \frac{a^2}{16\pi L^2}\mathbb{I} + o\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right),$$

Hence, as soon as

$$16\frac{\pi^2 L^2}{a^2} \left\| \mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}; k) - \mathbb{I} \right\| < 1, \tag{31}$$

we have that the matrix $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y},\vec{y};k)$ is invertible. This is the case in the Fraunhofer regime because the left hand side of (31) is o(1) and one gets that $\|\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y},\vec{y};k)^{-1}\|$ is of order L^2/a^2 . Hence, in this regime, the system (28) admits a unique solution $p \in \mathbb{C}^2$. When $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$, we use the block decomposition (27) of $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; k)$ and the identity (24) to get

$$\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y}_{i},\vec{y}_{i};k)p_{i} = \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y}_{i};k) - \mathbb{H}_{1:2,3}(\vec{y}_{i},\vec{y}_{i};k)p_{i,z} - \Big[\sum_{j\neq i}^{N}\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_{i},\vec{y}_{j};k)\vec{p}_{j}\Big]_{1:2}.$$
(32)

Using relations (32), (27) and (28) (which define the systems satisfied by p_i and p) we get that:

$$\|\boldsymbol{p}-\boldsymbol{p}_{i}\| \leq \|\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i},\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i};k)^{-1}\| \left[\left\| \left[\sum_{j\neq i}^{N} \mathbb{H}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i},\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{j};k)\boldsymbol{\vec{p}}_{j} \right]_{1:2} \right\| + \|\mathbb{H}_{1:2,3}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i},\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i};k)\boldsymbol{p}_{i,z}\| \right].$$

Finally, we apply lemma 2.1 and the asymptotic formulas (14) and (26) to dominate the right side of the last inequality:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{p}_i\| &= C \frac{L^2}{a^2} \left[\frac{a^2}{L^2} \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{L}{a \, k \min_{i \neq j} \|\boldsymbol{y}_i - \boldsymbol{y}_j\|} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 b}{L^3} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4 \Theta_a}{L^4} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_b}{L^2} \right) \right] \\ &= \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{L}{a \, k \min_{i \neq j} \|\boldsymbol{y}_i - \boldsymbol{y}_j\|} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_a}{L^2} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Theta_b \right). \end{aligned}$$

We now move to the case $\vec{y} \neq \vec{y}_i$. From (28) we immediately get

$$\|p\| \le \|\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y},\vec{y};k)^{-1}\| \|\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y};k)\|_{2}$$

Then, using proposition 2.2 which expresses the decay of the Fraunhofer image $\|\mathcal{I}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)\|$ in the case of one dipole and the linearity of $\mathcal{I}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)$ with respect to the number of dipoles, we immediately get (30).

The last proposition means that one obtains a good estimation of the two components \mathbf{p}_i of $\mathbf{\vec{p}}_i$ by solving the linear system (28) at $\mathbf{\vec{y}} = \mathbf{\vec{y}}_i$. A part from terms that are small in the Fraunhofer regime, the error is due to the presence of the other dipoles and involves the cross-range distances $\|\mathbf{y}_i - \mathbf{y}_j\|$. Thus the error in estimating the polarization vector is small when the dipoles are well separated, i.e. with distances large compared to the cross-range resolution L/(ak). The asymptotic (30) tells us that $\|\mathbf{p}\|$ is also a good imaging function for the dipole's position since it decreases as reciprocal of the distance to the closest dipole. We expect $\|\mathbf{p}\|$ to have the same resolution L/(ak) as the Fraunhofer imaging function $\mathbf{\vec{\mathcal{I}}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\mathbf{\vec{y}}; k)$ (see proposition 2.2).

2.6.1. Numerical experiments. We illustrate our cross-range resolution analysis in figures 3 and 4. Our goal is to contrast the difference between solving for all 3 components of the polarization vector for a single dipole and solving only for the cross-range components. We consider a regime corresponding to microwaves in vacuum, i.e. propagation velocity $c = 3 \times 10^8$ m/s, frequency $f_0 = 2.4$ GHz and wavelength $\lambda_0 = 0.125$ m. The array \mathcal{A} is a square centered at the origin and located within the plane z = 0. Its side aperture is $a = 20\lambda_0$ and is composed of 40×40 equally spaced, point-like receivers. The single dipole is located at $\vec{y}_* = (0, 0, L = 100\lambda_0)$ and has polarization vector $\vec{p}_* = (1 + 2i, 1 - 1i, 1 + 1i)$.

In figure 3, the reconstruction of both the position and polarization vector is performed by solving the ill-conditioned linear system (25). Here $\|\vec{p}\|$ is a poor approximation to $\|\vec{p}_*\| = 3$ near the dipole location, so much so that the image appears as that of two nearby dipoles. Since the directions $\operatorname{Re}(p)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(p)$ are still well recovered, this means that p_z is not well reconstructed. The focal spot is broader compared to that in figure 4, which indicates that $\|\vec{p}\|$ does not give a precise reconstruction of the position. The recovery of the directions $\operatorname{Re}(p)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(p)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(p)$ is also worse than in figure 4 because they do not decrease as fast when one moves away from the dipole.

In figure 4, the reconstruction of both the position and cross-range polarization \boldsymbol{p} is performed by solving the well-conditioned linear system (25). At the dipole position we have $\|\boldsymbol{p}\| = 2.5$, which is close to the true value $\|\boldsymbol{p}_*\|$ and the focal spot is nicely centered about the dipole. The size of the focal spot is consistent with the Rayleigh criterion, i.e. $\lambda_0 L/a = 5\lambda_0$. This confirms the asymptotic expression (30) which tells us that in the case of a single dipole, $\|\boldsymbol{p}\|$ has a cross-range resolution L/(ak) similar to the Kirchhoff imaging function $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)$. Moreover, one gets a stable reconstruction of $\operatorname{Re}(\boldsymbol{p})$ and $\operatorname{Im}(\boldsymbol{p})$ near the dipole position.

2.7. Range estimation of the position. Similarly to the acoustic case, Kirchhoff migration can resolve the location of a reflector in depth (range) by integrating $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)$ over a frequency band [8]. Here we consider the band $[\omega_0 - B/2, \omega_0 + B/2]$ with central frequency ω_0 and bandwidth B. By linearity, we consider only the case of a single dipole located at $\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_* = (\boldsymbol{y}_*, L + \eta_*)$ and polarization vector $\vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_*$. For the analysis, we assume that the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime (see section 2.3) holds uniformly with k in the whole frequency band $[\omega_0 - B/2, \omega_0 + B/2]$. We study the



FIGURE 3. Recovery of all three components of the polarization vector for a single dipole (white cross) in the z = L plane by solving the (ill-conditioned) system (25). The color scale represents $\|\vec{p}\|$ (i.e. the norm of all three polarization vector components). The left image contains the real part of the reconstructed (blue) and true (white) cross-range polarizations. The right image is similar for the imaginary part.



FIGURE 4. Recovery of the cross-range components of the polarization vector for a single dipole (white cross) in the z = L plane by solving the system (28). The color scale represents $||\mathbf{p}||$ (i.e. the norm of the cross-range component of the polarization vector). The left image contains the real part of the reconstructed (blue) and true (white) cross-range polarizations. The right image is similar for the imaginary part.

following imaging function

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y}) = \int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \, \vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}\left(\vec{y}; \frac{\omega}{c}\right). \tag{33}$$

We suppose that the cross-range position \boldsymbol{y}_* of the obstacle is known and we evaluate the imaging function (33) at points of the form $\boldsymbol{\vec{y}} = (\boldsymbol{y}_*, L + \eta)$. Hence, using the asymptotic (13) of $\boldsymbol{\vec{\mathcal{I}}}_{\text{KM}}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}; \omega/c)$ yields (for N = 1)

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) = \int_{|\omega-\omega_0|< B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \left[\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}\left(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*; \frac{\omega}{c}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4\Theta_a}{L^4}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2\Theta_b}{L^2}\right) \right] \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_*, \qquad (34)$$
$$= \int_{|\omega-\omega_0|< B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \frac{\exp[\mathrm{i}\omega(\eta_*-\eta)/c]}{(4\pi L)^2} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \,\mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) \mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) \,\vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_* + B \, o\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right).$$

The following proposition shows that as the range distance $|\eta - \eta_*|$ between the imaging point and the dipole is large compared to c/B, the norm of the imaging function becomes small. This is similar to the range resolution estimate in acoustic [8, 9].

Proposition 2.4 (Imaging function decrease in the range direction). When the array \mathcal{A} is a disk of radius a, the Kirchhoff imaging function (10) of the dipole $\vec{y}_* = (y_*, L + \eta_*)$ satisfies for all $\vec{y} = (y_*, L + \eta)$ with $\eta \neq \eta_*$,

$$\|\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}})\| = B \frac{a^2}{L^2} \left(\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{c}{B |\eta - \eta_*|}\right) + o(1) \right).$$
(35)

At the dipole location we have

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) = B \left[\frac{a^2}{16\pi L^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_* + o\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right) \right].$$
(36)

Proof. When $\eta \neq \eta_*$, we get

$$\|\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}})\| \le C \frac{a^2}{L^2} \left[\left| \int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \exp[\mathrm{i}\omega(\eta_* - \eta)/c] \right| + Bo(1) \right]$$

for some C > 0, because orthogonal projectors have induced matrix 2-norm equal to one and the polarization vector is assumed to be $\mathcal{O}(1)$. By evaluating the integral in frequency of the latter expression we obtain

$$\int_{|\omega-\omega_0|< B/2} d\omega \exp[i\omega(\eta_*-\eta)/c] = B \exp[i\omega_0(\eta_*-\eta)/c] \operatorname{sinc}\left(\frac{B(\eta_*-\eta)}{2c}\right) \quad (37)$$

where $\operatorname{sinc}(x) \equiv \sin(x)/x$. Hence we have that

$$\|\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}})\| = B \frac{a^2}{L^2} \left(\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{c}{B |\eta - \eta_*|}\right) + o(1) \right).$$

The expression (34) of the imaging function $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm KM}(\cdot)$ evaluated at the dipole location \vec{y}_* is

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) = \left[\int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \right] \left[\int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \, \mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) \right] \, \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_* + B \, o\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right),$$

and by lemma 2.2 satisfies the following asymptotic

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) = B \left[\frac{a^2}{16\pi L^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_* + o \left(\frac{a^2}{L^2} \right) \right].$$

2.8. Polarization vector recovery in the range direction. As we discussed in section 2.6, we cannot expect to stably recover the range component p_z of a dipole's polarization vector \vec{p} from the Kirchhoff image $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm KM}$. A straightforward integration in frequency of the linear system approach of section 2.6 gives a good estimate of the cross-range polarization vector p if we knew the range position of the dipole. Unfortunately, moving in depth gives oscillatory artifacts in p. We characterize these artifacts and show how to eliminate them.

2.8.1. Analysis of polarization vector image in range. For the analysis, we consider once again a family of dipoles with positions $\vec{y}_1, \ldots, \vec{y}_N$ and polarizations $\vec{p}_1, \ldots, \vec{p}_N$. To recover the cross-range components of the polarization vectors, we integrate (28) over the frequency band and solve the following linear system

$$\left[\int_{|\omega_0 - \omega| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \,\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}\left(\vec{y}, \vec{y}; \frac{\omega}{c}\right)\right] \boldsymbol{p} = \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y}),\tag{38}$$

where $\mathcal{I}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{y})$ denotes the two first components of the imaging function $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{y})$. Naturally, the solution of this system leads to a stable reconstruction of both the position \vec{y}_i and the polarization p_i of each dipole in the cross-range. Indeed, it is straightforward to check that integrating the system (28) over the frequency band does not change: (a) its invertibility in the Fraunhofer regime, (b) its condition number being close to one and (c) the resolution estimates (29) and (30).

Now we study the behavior in range of this procedure to recover the cross-range component of the polarization vector image \boldsymbol{p} . Here we isolate the effect of range by considering the case where all the dipoles have same cross-range, i.e. $\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i = (\boldsymbol{y}_*, L + \eta_i)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, N$. The following proposition shows that the resolution of $\|\boldsymbol{p}\|$ in the range direction is c/B (as in acoustics, see e.g. [8, 9]). Furthermore at the dipole position $\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i$, one recovers the polarization vector \boldsymbol{p}_i provided that the range distance between the different dipoles $|\eta - \eta_j|$ is large with respect to the range resolution c/B.

Proposition 2.5. When the array \mathcal{A} is a disk of radius a and the dipoles are all aligned in the range direction of \mathcal{A} , the cross-range polarization image \mathbf{p} (obtained by solving the linear system (38) and depending of the imaging point \mathbf{y}) satisfies the two following estimates:

• If the imaging point is the dipole location, i.e. $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$ we have

$$\|\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{p}_i\| = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{c}{B\min_{i \neq j} |\eta_i - \eta_j|}\right) + o(1), \tag{39}$$

• If the imaging point range is different from any of the dipole ranges, $\vec{y} = (y_*, L + \eta) \neq \vec{y}_j$ (for all j = 1, ..., N),

$$\|\boldsymbol{p}\| = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{c}{B\min_{j=1,\dots,N} |\eta - \eta_j|}\right) + o(1).$$

$$\tag{40}$$

Proof. We introduce for convenience the matrix

$$\mathbb{H}_B(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}') = \int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \,\mathbb{H}\Big(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; \frac{\omega}{c}\Big).$$

When $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$, the cross-range component p_i of the polarization satisfies

$$[\mathbb{H}_{B}(\vec{y}_{i},\vec{y}_{i})]_{1:2,1:2} p_{i} = \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y}_{i}) - [\mathbb{H}_{B}(\vec{y}_{i},\vec{y}_{i})]_{1:2,3} p_{i,z} - \Big[\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{N} \mathbb{H}_{B}(\vec{y}_{i},\vec{y}_{j})\vec{p}_{j}\Big]_{1:2},$$

$$(41)$$

which is the integral over the frequency band of (32). Thus from the systems (41) and (38) satisfied by p_i and p one gets

$$\|\boldsymbol{p}-\boldsymbol{p}_{i}\| \leq \|[\mathbb{H}_{B}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i})]_{1:2,1:2}^{-1}\| \left(\left\| \left[\sum_{j\neq i}^{N} \mathbb{H}_{B}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{j})\vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_{j} \right]_{1:2} \right\| + \left| [\mathbb{H}_{B}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i})]_{1:2,3} p_{i,z} \right| \right).$$

By proceeding as in the proof of proposition 2.3, one can show by integrating over the frequency band that $\|[\mathbb{H}_B(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i)]_{1:2,1:2}^{-1}\| = \mathcal{O}(L^2/(a^2B))$. Since the dipoles are aligned, the contribution from the other dipoles can be controlled using proposition 2.4, giving

$$\left\| \left[\sum_{j \neq i}^{N} \mathbb{H}_{B}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{j}) \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_{j} \right]_{1:2} \right\| = \frac{Ba^{2}}{L^{2}} \left(\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{c}{\min_{j \neq i} |\eta_{i} - \eta_{j}|} \right) + o(1) \right)$$

Moreover, the asymptotic (26) bounds the error due to only looking at the crossrange component of the system: $|[\mathbb{H}_B(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i)]_{1:2,3} p_{i,z}| = o(Ba^2/L^2)$. Combining the last three estimates gives the desired result (39).

Finally, the asymptotics (40) follows immediately from $\|[\check{\mathbb{H}}_B(\vec{y}, \vec{y})]_{1:2,1:2}^{-1}\| = \mathcal{O}(L^2/(a^2B))$ and the decay rate in range of the imaging function (35).

2.8.2. Depth oscillation artifact and its suppression. It is known in acoustics that the reflection coefficient of a point scatterer can only be recovered up to a complex phase, see e.g. [21]. A similar phenomenon is observed here: if the range position of a scatterer is not known perfectly, the estimation of the cross-range polarization \boldsymbol{p} oscillates in range. This can be easily seen by considering a single dipole at location \boldsymbol{y}_* and with polarization vector \boldsymbol{p}_* . Rewriting the imaging function $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\boldsymbol{y}_*, L+\eta)$ for points with same cross-range as the dipole gives together with (34) and (37)

$$\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) = \frac{Be^{\mathrm{i}\,\omega_0(\eta_* - \eta)/c}}{(4\pi L)^2} \operatorname{sinc}\left(\frac{B(\eta_* - \eta)}{2\,c}\right) \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \,\mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) \mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) \,\vec{\boldsymbol{p}}_* + B\,o\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right) \tag{42}$$

Clearly the presence of the complex exponential $\exp[i \omega_0(\eta_* - \eta)/c]$ and the sinc causes the image $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{KM}}(\boldsymbol{y}_*, L + \eta)$ to oscillate in η . This oscillation is not taken into account if we solve the linear system (38) for \boldsymbol{p} , indeed the system matrix does not oscillate but the right hand side does. We point out that in the case $\eta = \eta_*$, there are no such oscillations, which explains why this error is not present in the error analysis for \boldsymbol{p} assuming a known dipole position (39). Also the oscillations are relevant because their length scale is close to c/B, the resolution in depth.

To deal with this artifact, we estimate p by solving (38) and then we fix the phase of one component of p. In the following, we have arbitrarily chosen to enforce that the first component be real and positive, that is arg $p_x = 0$. This can be achieved by post-processing the solution of (38) by the operation $(\bar{p}_x/|p_x|)p$. This operation is problematic for small $|p_x|$, in which case we can use the y component or we could also regularize using: $(\bar{p}_x/(|p_x|+\delta))p$, for a small $\delta > 0$.

2.8.3. Numerical illustration of depth oscillation suppression. Here we illustrate the depth oscillation and its correction in the same setup as that in figures 3 and 4. In figure 5 we display $||\mathbf{p}||$ in color scale and $\operatorname{Re}(p_x)$ with arrows the plane y = 0. The central frequency is $f_0 = 2\pi\omega_0$ and the bandwidth $B/(2\pi)$ are both equal to 2.4GHz. Thus, the ratio $2\pi c/B = \lambda_0$ gives in both images the size of the focal spot in the range direction z. On the left, we display $\operatorname{Re}(p_x)$ without any phase correction. The dipole position and magnitude are accurately imaged, but the dipole polarization vector oscillates in range direction inside the focal spot with a period $c/f_0 = \lambda_0$. Hence the reconstruction is unstable. In the right figure, we apply the correction $(\overline{p}_x/|p_x)\mathbf{p}$ to both the reconstructed \mathbf{p} and the true \mathbf{p}_* (white arrows). The correction suppresses the phase oscillation and gives a stable reconstruction of \mathbf{p}_* , up to a complex sign.



FIGURE 5. Image of $||\mathbf{p}||$ in the plane y = 0 (color scale, both figures). The blue arrows represent $\operatorname{Re}(p_x)$ without phase correction (left) and with phase correction (right). The white arrow represents $\operatorname{Re}(p_{x,*})$, with the same correction applied.

2.9. Numerical experiments for several dipoles. In figures 6, 7 and 8, we consider the case of three dipoles placed at $\vec{y}_1 = (-7\lambda_0, 7\lambda_0, L), \vec{y}_2 = (7\lambda_0, 7\lambda_0, L)$ and $\vec{y}_3 = (2\lambda_0, -2\lambda_0, L+7\lambda_0)$ with respective polarization vectors $\vec{p}_1 = (2, 1-2i, 1-i), \vec{p}_2 = (-2, 2-2i, 1+i)$, and $\vec{p}_3 = (1, 2+2i, 1-i)$. The cross-range polarization vector components have norms $\|\boldsymbol{p}\| \approx 3$, 3.5 and 3, respectively. The array \mathcal{A} , the bandwidth B and the central frequency f_0 are identical to the ones used in figure 5. We visualize with the same convention as in the previous figures the reconstruction of the positions and the polarization vectors obtained by solving the linear system (38) and applying the phase correction of section 2.8.2. Figures 6 and 7 illustrate the reconstruction and the resolution of $\|\boldsymbol{p}\|$ in the cross-range of each dipole. Once again, the focal spot is given by the Rayleigh criterion: $\lambda_0 L/a = 5\lambda_0$. In each case, we observe a stable reconstruction of $\|\boldsymbol{p}\|$ and of the complex vector $(\overline{p}_x/|p_x|)\boldsymbol{p}$.

Figure 8 illustrates the range resolution of each dipole. The size of the focal spot is again of order $2\pi c/B = \lambda_0$. We note a stable reconstruction of $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{p}_x/|p_x|)p_x)$ with no oscillations in the range direction (as by convention $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{p}_x/|p_x|)p_x) = 0$, it is not represented in our figures). Even if $(\overline{p}_x/|p_x|)p_y$ is reconstructed accurately by our method, we chose not to display it in figure 8 because the axis are xz.



FIGURE 6. Image of $\|\boldsymbol{p}\|$ in the plane z = 0 (color scale on both figures). The blue arrows on the left represent $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{p}_x/|p_x|)\boldsymbol{p})$ and on the right $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{p}_x/|p_x|)\boldsymbol{p})$. The white arrows represent the corresponding true quantities.



FIGURE 7. Same as in the figure 6 but in the plane $z = 7\lambda_0$.

3. The active imaging problem

Here we focus on the imaging problem where the array is composed of sources and receivers. The problem and the imaging function we use are defined in section 3.1. The generalization of the Kirchhoff imaging function we consider associates to each



FIGURE 8. Image of $||\mathbf{p}||$ (color scale) and of $(\overline{p}_x/|p_x|)p_x$ (blue arrows). The plane $y = 7 \lambda_0$ is on the left and the plane $y = -2 \lambda_0$ is on the right.

imaging point a matrix. As we show in section 3.2, the cross-range resolution estimate for the norm of this matrix coincides with the classic estimate in acoustics. The procedure to extract the polarizability tensor from the image is given in section 3.3. We then proceed to study the resolution in the range direction and we obtain results that are similar to those in acoustics (section 3.4). The reconstructed polarizability in range is studied in section 3.5. As in the passive case, the image needs to be corrected in the depth direction to suppress oscillatory artifacts. Finally we report numerical experiments illustrating our results in section 3.6.

3.1. Mathematical formulation of the active imaging problem. We now consider the problem of imaging point-like scatterers using a collocated array \mathcal{A} of sources and receivers within the z = 0 plane (see figure 9). The field scattered by a small object located at \vec{y}_* resulting from an incident field $\vec{E}_{inc}(\vec{x};k)$ is

$$\vec{E}_{\text{scatt}}(\vec{x};k) = \mu \omega^2 \mathbb{G}(\vec{x}, \vec{y}_*;k) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_* \vec{E}_{\text{inc}}(\vec{y}_*;k),$$

where $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_* \in \mathbb{C}^{3\times 3}$ is the *polarizability tensor* of the scatterer, satisfying $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_*^T = \boldsymbol{\alpha}_*$ by reciprocity, see e.g. [22]. The analogue in acoustics of the matrix $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_*$ is the reflection coefficient. In general, the polarizability tensor depends on k, but for our study we assume that the dependence is weak within the frequency band we consider (this occurs when e.g. the scatterers are standard dielectric, [20]). Our goal is to image both the *position* and *polarizability tensors* of a collection of these scatterers. We work under a weak scattering assumption, where the scattered field from N scatterers located at \vec{y}_n with polarizability tensors $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_n$, $n = 1, \ldots, N$ is given by the Born approximation (see e.g. [11])

$$\vec{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\text{scat}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}};k) = \mu \omega^2 \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_n; k) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_n \vec{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\text{inc}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_n; k).$$
(43)

The field used to probe the medium is controlled by a distribution $\vec{p} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}^3$ where $\vec{p}(x_s)$ is the polarization vector of a dipole at $\vec{x}_s = (x_s, 0) \in \mathcal{A}$. The electric field generated by the array dipole distribution $\vec{p}(x_s)$ is

$$\vec{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\rm inc}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}};k) = \mu \omega^2 \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s \mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}},\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s;k) \, \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s). \tag{44}$$

The data we use to image is the scattered field at the array. Since different array dipole distributions can be used, the data that can be collected in this setup can be thought of as the (matrix valued) array response function $\Pi(\boldsymbol{x}_r, \boldsymbol{x}_s; k) \in \mathbb{C}^{3\times 3}$ defined for $\boldsymbol{x}_r, \boldsymbol{x}_s \in \mathcal{A}$ and wavenumber k such that the scattered field resulting from the array dipole distribution $\vec{\boldsymbol{p}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s)$ is

$$\vec{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\rm scat}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r;k) = \mu^2 \omega^4 \int_{\mathcal{A}} \Pi(\boldsymbol{x}_r,\boldsymbol{x}_s;k) \vec{\boldsymbol{p}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s) \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_s.$$

Combining (43) and (44), the array response function for N point-like scatterers is

$$\Pi(\boldsymbol{x}_r, \boldsymbol{x}_s; k) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_n; k) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_n \mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_n, \vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s; k), \text{ for } \boldsymbol{x}_s, \boldsymbol{x}_r \in \mathcal{A}.$$
(45)



FIGURE 9. Active imaging problem description.

The imaging function we use is an electromagnetic version of the Kirchhoff imaging function

$$\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) = \int_{\mathcal{A}} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_s \overline{\mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r,\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)} \,\Pi(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r,\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s;k) \,\overline{\mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_s,\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)}, \tag{46}$$

which gives a 3×3 complex matrix at each imaging point \vec{y} . For our particular data, the image is

$$\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[\int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r} \overline{\mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)} \mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{r},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n};k) \right] \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n} \left[\int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{s} \mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n},\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{s};k) \overline{\mathbb{G}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_{s},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)} \right] \\
= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n};k) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n};k)^{\top},$$
(47)

where the 3×3 matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_n, k)$ is the "point spread matrix" defined in (11).

20

3.2. Cross-range estimations of the position. To estimate the cross-range resolution of the active Kirchhoff imaging function $\mathbb{I}_{\text{KM}}(\vec{y};k)$, we consider the case of one point-like scatterer (N = 1) located at $\vec{y}_* = (y_*, L + \eta_*)$ with polarizability tensor α_* . We assume that the range position $L + \eta_*$ is known. The case of multiple point-like scatterers is obtained by linearity. In the following we assume that $\|\alpha_n\| = \mathcal{O}(1)$. It is convenient to introduce the block decomposition of the polarizability tensor

$$oldsymbol{lpha}_* = egin{pmatrix} oldsymbol{lpha}_{*;1:2,1:2} & oldsymbol{lpha}_{*,1:2,3} \ oldsymbol{lpha}_{*;3,1:2} & oldsymbol{lpha}_{*;3,3} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\alpha_{*,1:2,1:2}$, is a 2 × 2 matrix, $\alpha_{*,1:2,3}$ is a 2 × 1 matrix, and so on.

The next proposition shows that the cross-range resolution of the Kirchhoff imaging function is also given by the Rayleigh criterion L/(ka). The difference from imaging active sources is that for scatterers, the image function decays faster. To be more precise, the decay is in the order of $(L/(ka||\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}_*||))^2$ for scatterers versus $L/(ka||\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}_*||)$ for sources, see proposition 2.2.

Proposition 3.1 (Decreasing of the imaging function in cross-range). The Kirchhoff imaging function (47) of a point-like scatterer located at $\vec{y}_* = (y_*, L + \eta_*)$ and evaluated at $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta_*)$ satisfies

$$\|\mathbb{I}_{KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)\| \le \frac{a^4}{L^4} \left[\mathcal{O}\left(\left(\frac{L}{a\,k\,\|\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}_*\|} \right) \right)^2 + o(1) \right], \ \forall \vec{\boldsymbol{y}} = (\boldsymbol{y}, L + \eta_*) \quad with \ \boldsymbol{y} \neq \boldsymbol{y}_*,$$

$$\tag{48}$$

where the o(1) is explicitly given by $\mathcal{O}(a^4\Theta_a^2/L^4) + \mathcal{O}(\Theta_b^2)$. When the shape of the array \mathcal{A} is a disk of radius a, one has

$$\mathbb{I}_{KM}(\vec{y}_{*};k) = \frac{a^{4}}{(16\pi)^{2}L^{4}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{*;1:2,1:2} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & 0 \end{pmatrix} + o\left(\frac{a^{4}}{L^{4}}\right).$$
(49)

Proof. Let $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta_*)$ be a point in the cross-range of the dipole \vec{y}_* with $y \neq y_*$. As $\|\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_n, k)\| = \|\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_n, k)^\top\|$ and $\alpha_* = \mathcal{O}(1)$, one gets immediately from the expression (47) of $\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y}; k)$ (with N = 1) that

$$\|\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}};k)\| \leq \mathcal{O}\big(\|\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*;k)\|^2\big)$$

Using proposition 2.1, it is straightforward to derive the following Fraunhofer asymptotic for the matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_*; k)$

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*; k) = \widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*; k) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4 \Theta_a}{L^4}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_b}{L^2}\right),$$
(50)

which leads to (48) by applying lemma 2.1 for the asymptotic of the matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}_*; k)$.

For the case of a disk array \mathcal{A} of radius a, the asymptotic formula (49) of $\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y}_*;k)$ follows immediately from the asymptotic (50) when $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_*$ and the lemma 2.2 for the asymptotic of the matrix $\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}_*, \vec{y}_*; k)$.

3.3. Cross-range estimations of the polarizability tensors. We now study the estimation of the polarizability tensors of N point-like scatterers from the Kirchhoff imaging function. We derive an error estimate by assuming that the positions $\vec{y}_1, \ldots, \vec{y}_N$ of the point-like scatterers are known. At \vec{y}_i we have the following identity

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i; k) \,\boldsymbol{\alpha}_i \,\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i; k) = \mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i; k) - \sum_{i \neq j} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; k) \,\boldsymbol{\alpha}_j \,\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; k)^\top \quad (51)$$

where we use that $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; k) = \mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; k)^{\top}$, from (11) and the fact that $\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}_i; k)$ and $\overline{\mathbb{G}(\vec{x}_r, \vec{y}_i; k)}$ commute. Hence, if the point-like scatterers are distant enough, we expect the coupling term (i.e. the second term in the right hand side of (51)) to be small. Neglecting the coupling terms, α_i can be obtained by solving the linear system

$$\mathbb{H}(\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i; k) \, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_i \, \mathbb{H}(\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i; k) = \mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i; k).$$
(52)

In the Fraunhofer regime, this system is ill-conditioned. Indeed, from formula (26), it follows that the matrix $\mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; k)$ is ill-conditioned. Hence, as for the passive imaging problem, one cannot retrieve all entries of the polarizability tensor α_* . To be more precise, the asymptotic formula (26) shows that in this regime the blocks $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,3}$, $\mathbb{H}_{3,1:2}$ and $\mathbb{H}_{3,3}$ are asymptotically smaller compared to the blocks $\mathbb{H}_{1:2;1:2}$. The block $\mathbb{H}_{1:2;1:2}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i, k)$ can be approximated by $(a^2/L^2)\mathbb{I}$, where \mathbb{I} is the 2 × 2 identity. Hence we can stably extract from (51) the block $\alpha_{*;1:2,1:2}$ of the polarization tensor. We give an error estimate for this procedure in the following proposition.

Proposition 3.2. In the Fraunhofer asymptotic regime, the system

$$\mathbb{H}_{1;2,1;2}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}, k) \,\alpha_{1:2,1:2} \,\mathbb{H}_{1;2,1;2}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}, k) = \mathbb{I}_{KM;1:2,1;2}(\vec{y}; k) \tag{53}$$

is invertible and its solution is

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} = \mathbb{H}_{1;2,1;2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, k)^{-1} \mathbb{I}_{KM;1:2,1;2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k) \mathbb{H}_{1;2,1;2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; k)^{-1}.$$
 (54)

If the array \mathcal{A} is a disk of radius a, the estimated cross-range polarizability tensor $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}$ (which depends on the imaging point \vec{y}) approximates the exact one $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}$ in the following sense

• If the imaging point coincides with a dipole, i.e. $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$,

$$\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}\| = \mathcal{O}\left(\left(\frac{L}{a \, k \min_{j \neq i} \|\boldsymbol{y}_i - \boldsymbol{y}_j\|}\right)^2\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_a}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\Theta_b).$$
(55)

• If the imaging point does not coincide with a dipole in the range, i.e. $y \neq y_j$ for all j = 1, ..., N,

$$\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}\| = \mathcal{O}\left(\left(\frac{L}{a \, k \min_{j=1,\dots,N} \|\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}_j\|}\right)^2\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\Theta_a^2}{L^4}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\Theta_b^2).$$
(56)

Proof. For simplicity we omit the dependence in k in this proof. In Fraunhofer asymptotic regime, $\mathbb{H}_{1;2,1;2}(\vec{y},\vec{y})$ is invertible with $\|\mathbb{H}_{1;2,1;2}(\vec{y},\vec{y})^{-1}\| = \mathcal{O}(L^2/a^2)$ (see proposition 2.3). Thus the solution $\alpha_{1:2,1:2}$ of (53) is given by formula (54).

In the case $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$, the identity (51) and the asymptotic (26) of the matrix $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i)$, gives after a short calculation that the first block $\alpha_{i;1:2,1:2}$ of the exact polarizability tensor α_i satisfies the following system

$$\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i})\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2} \mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i}) \\
= \mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM};1:2,1;2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i}) - \left[\sum_{j\neq i} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{j})\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{j} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_{j})^{\top}\right]_{1:2,1:2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{4}b}{L^{5}}\right) + \left(\frac{a^{6}\Theta_{a}}{L^{6}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{4}\Theta_{b}}{L^{4}}\right).$$
(57)

$$\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}\| \leq \| \mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i}, \boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i})^{-1}\|^{2} \left[\| \left[\sum_{j \neq i} \mathbb{H}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i}, \boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{j}) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{j} \mathbb{H}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{i}, \boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_{j})^{\top} \right]_{1:2} \| + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{4}b}{L^{5}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{6}\Theta_{a}}{L^{6}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^{4}\Theta_{b}}{L^{4}}\right) \right]$$

Finally, using the asymptotic formula (48) to control the terms in sum above we obtain

$$\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}\| = \mathcal{O}\left(\left(\frac{L}{a k \min_{i \neq j} \|\boldsymbol{y}_i - \boldsymbol{y}_j\|}\right)^2\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2 \Theta_a}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\Theta_b).$$

In the case $\vec{y} \neq \vec{y}_i$, we have

п

$$\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}\| \leq \|\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}})^{-1}\|^2 \|\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM};1:2,1;2}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}})\|.$$

Thus, the asymptotic formula (56) follows immediately from the decay of the imaging function $\mathbb{I}_{KM;1:2,1;2}(\vec{y})$ given by (48).

The asymptotic (55) shows that one obtains a good reconstruction of the crossrange polarizability tensor $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}$ by solving the linear system (53). The error is given by a coupling term (contribution from the other scatterers) and remainders which are small in the Fraunhofer regime. This coupling term decreases as $(L/(a k \min_{i\neq j} || \boldsymbol{y}_i - \boldsymbol{y}_j ||))^2$ which is faster than the decrease in $L/(a k \min_{i\neq j} || \boldsymbol{y}_i - \boldsymbol{y}_j ||)$ we found in passive imaging (see proposition 2.3). The asymptotic (56) shows that using $\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}\|$ as an image (as it does depend on the imaging point $\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}$) also leads to a stable reconstruction of the scatterer's positions, with cross-range resolution given by the Rayleigh criterion.

3.4. Range estimation of the position. We study the resolution in range by considering one point-like scatterer located at $\vec{y}_* = (y_*, L + \eta_*)$ with known cross-range position y_* . We assume the array response function $\Pi(x_r, x_s; \omega/c)$ is known for $x_r, x_s \in \mathcal{A}$ and on the frequency band $[\omega_0 - B/2, \omega_0 + B/2]$, with bandwidth B. The Kirchhoff imaging function over this band and at a point \vec{y} is obtained from the single frequency Kirchhoff imaging function (46) by integrating over the frequency band

$$\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) = \int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \,\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}\left(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; \frac{\omega}{c}\right).$$

As in the passive case, we assume that the Fraunhofer asymptotics (section 2.3) hold uniformly over the frequency band $[\omega_0 - B/2, \omega_0 + B/2]$. The next proposition shows that as in the passive imaging case, the range resolution is c/B.

Proposition 3.3 (Imaging function decrease in the range direction). When the array \mathcal{A} is a disk of radius a, the Kirchhoff imaging function (10) of the dipole $\vec{y}_* = (y_*, L + \eta_*)$ satisfies for all $\vec{y} = (y_*, L + \eta)$ with $\eta \neq \eta_*$,

$$\|\mathbb{I}_{KM}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}})\| = B \frac{a^4}{L^4} \left[\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{c}{B |\eta - \eta_*|}\right) + o(1) \right].$$
(58)

At the dipole location we have

$$\mathbb{I}_{KM}(\vec{y}_*) = B \begin{bmatrix} \frac{a^4}{(16\pi)^2 L^4} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{*;1:2,1:2} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & 0 \end{pmatrix} + o\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (59)

Proof. We first consider the case where the imaging point $\vec{y} = (\vec{y}_*, L + \eta)$ does not coincide with the dipole, i.e. $\eta \neq \eta_*$. Using the asymptotic (14) and the definition of $\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}$ in (12), we observe that the imaging function (47) at \vec{y} is

$$\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) = \int_{|\omega-\omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \, \exp[2\mathrm{i}\omega(\eta_* - \eta)/c] \, \mathbb{Q}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) \, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_* \, \mathbb{Q}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*)^\top + Bo\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right),\tag{60}$$

where we used the notation

$$\mathbb{Q}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}},\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) = \frac{1}{4\pi L^2} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_r \, \mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r,\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}) \mathbb{P}(\vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r,\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) = \mathcal{O}\Big(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\Big).$$

Integrating in frequency we get

$$\int_{|\omega-\omega_0|< B/2} d\omega \, \exp[2i\omega(\eta_*-\eta)/c] = B \exp[2i\omega_0(\eta_*-\eta)/c] \operatorname{sinc}\left(\frac{B(\eta_*-\eta)}{c}\right).$$
(61)

Finally combining this last relation with (60) yields

$$\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_*) = B \exp[2\mathrm{i}\omega_0(\eta_* - \eta)/c] \operatorname{sinc}\left(\frac{B(\eta_* - \eta)}{c}\right) \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right) + Bo\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right).$$
(62)

The asymptotic formula (58) follows.

When $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_*$, the asymptotic formula (59) follows immediately by integrating over the frequency the asymptotic (49).

3.5. Polarizability tensor recovery in the range direction. From the asymptotic analysis of section 3.2, at a frequency ω we can only expect to recover the cross-range polarizability tensor $\alpha_{i;1:2,1:2}$ by solving the linear system (54). The solution $\alpha_{1:2,1:2}$ depends on both the imaging point and the frequency ω . Since we assume that the true polarizability tensor does not depend on ω we propose to estimate it by averaging the single frequency estimate over the frequency band, i.e.

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} = \frac{1}{B} \int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\,\omega\,\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}(\omega).$$
(63)

As we see next in section 3.5.1, if the depth of the scatterer is well-known, this procedure estimates well the cross-range polarizability of the scatterer. However, as in the passive case (see section 2.8), the image oscillates in depth. These oscillations can be characterized and suppressed as we show in section 3.5.2.

3.5.1. Analysis of polarizability tensor image in range. In the next proposition, we isolate the effect of depth by considering scatterers that are aligned in range. We show that the depth resolution of the cross-range polarizability tensor image is c/B, i.e. identical to the passive case (section 2.7). If the imaging point coincides with the scatterer position, the error in estimating the cross-range polarizability tensor remains small, provided the scatterers are well separated, i.e. $|\eta_i - \eta_j|$ is large with respect to the range resolution c/B.

Proposition 3.4. When the array \mathcal{A} is a disk of radius a and the dipoles are all aligned the range direction of \mathcal{A} , the image of the cross-range polarizability tensor $\alpha_{1:2,1:2}$ (given by (63)) satisfies the two following estimates:

• If the imaging point is the dipole location, i.e. $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$, we have

$$\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}\| = \mathcal{O}\Big(\frac{c}{B\min_{i\neq j}|\eta_i - \eta_j|}\Big) + o(1), \tag{64}$$

• If the imaging point range is different from any of the dipole ranges, $\vec{y} = (y_*, L + \eta) \neq \vec{y}_j$ (for all j = 1, ..., N),

$$\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}\| = \mathcal{O}\Big(\frac{c}{B\min_{j=1,\dots,N} |\eta - \eta_j|}\Big) + o(1).$$
(65)

Proof. We start with the case where $\vec{y} = \vec{y}_i$. To shorten notation we use $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\omega/c)$ instead of $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_i; \omega/c)$. From the definition of the cross-range polarizability tensor image (63) and our assumption that the exact cross-range polarizability is independent of frequency we get

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2} = \frac{1}{B} \int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\,\omega(\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}(\omega) - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2})$$

To estimate the difference $\alpha_{1:2,1:2}(\omega) - \alpha_{i;1:2,1:2}$ we use (53) and (57) to obtain

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}(\omega) - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2} = \mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2} \left(\frac{\omega}{c}\right)^{-1} \left(\left[-\sum_{j \neq i} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; \frac{\omega}{c}) \,\boldsymbol{\alpha}_j \,\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; \frac{\omega}{c})^{\top} \right]_{1:2,1:2} + o\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right) \right) \mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2} \left(\frac{\omega}{c}\right)^{-1}$$

Now recalling that $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\omega/c)^{-1} = (4\pi L)^2/a^2 + o(L^2/a^2)$, one gets that

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2} = \frac{(4\pi L)^4}{a^4 B} \int_{|\omega - \omega_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\omega \Big[-\sum_{j \neq i} \mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; \frac{\omega}{c}) \,\boldsymbol{\alpha}_j \,\mathbb{H}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_i, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}_j; \frac{\omega}{c})^\top \Big]_{1:2,1:2} + o(1)$$

Then, since the dipoles are aligned, one can use the relation (62) to rewrite the coupling term $\sum_{j \neq i} \mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_j; \omega/c) \alpha_j \mathbb{H}(\vec{y}_i, \vec{y}_j; \omega/c)^{\top}$ in terms of a sinc to get

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2} = \frac{-(4\pi L)^4}{a^4} \sum_{j \neq i} e^{2i\omega_0(\eta_j - \eta_i)/c} \operatorname{sinc}\left(\frac{B(\eta_j - \eta_i)}{c}\right) O\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right) + o(1).$$

This gives the asymptotic (64). The asymptotic (65) can be proved in a similar way. $\hfill \Box$

3.5.2. Suppression of oscillatory artifact in depth. The image of the cross-range polarizability oscillates depth. To see this, consider the reconstruction formula (63) for a single dipole (N = 1) located at \vec{y}_* and with polarizability tensor α_* for imaging points $\vec{y} = (\vec{y}_*, L + \eta_*)$ in the range of the dipole \vec{y}_* . The multi-frequency estimate of the cross-range polarizability tensor is

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} = \frac{1}{B} \int_{|\boldsymbol{\omega}-\boldsymbol{\omega}_0| < B/2} \mathrm{d}\,\boldsymbol{\omega}\,\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2} \left(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; \frac{\boldsymbol{\omega}}{c}\right)^{-1} \left[\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \frac{\boldsymbol{\omega}}{c})\right]_{1:2,1:2} \mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2} \left(\vec{\boldsymbol{y}}, \vec{\boldsymbol{y}}; \frac{\boldsymbol{\omega}}{c}\right)^{-1}$$

Using the asymptotic $\mathbb{H}_{1:2,1:2}(\vec{y}, \vec{y}; \omega/c)^{-1} = (4\pi L)^2/a^2 + o(L^2/a^2)$ and the asymptotic (60) and (61) for $[\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{KM}}(\vec{y}, \frac{\omega}{c})]_{1:2,1:2}$ in the range direction of \vec{y}_* , this becomes:

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2} = \frac{(4\pi L)^4}{a^4} e^{2\mathrm{i}\omega_0(\eta_* - \eta)/c} \operatorname{sinc}\left(\frac{B(\eta_* - \eta)}{c}\right) \mathbb{Q}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}, \boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_*) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_* \mathbb{Q}(\boldsymbol{\vec{y}}, \boldsymbol{\vec{y}}_*)^\top + o(1) \,,$$

for $\vec{y} = (\vec{y}_*, L + \eta_*)$. The presence of the complex exponential and the sinc causes the image $\vec{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{KM}}(y_*, L + \eta)$ to oscillate in η (twice faster than in passive imaging see (42)). Thus, if one does not know exactly the cross-range position $L + \eta_*$ of the dipole, one cannot reconstruct in a stable way $\alpha_{1:2,1:2}$. To deal with this artifact, we fix the phase of one component of $\alpha_{1:2,1:2}$. In the following, we have arbitrarily chosen to enforce that the 1,1 entry be real and positive, i.e. $\arg(\alpha_{1,1}) = 0$. This can be achieved by post-processing the solution of (38) by the operation $(\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|) \alpha_{1:2,1:2}$. If $|\alpha_{1,1}|$ is small, this operation can be problematic and we can instead fix the phase of another entry of α . One can also regularize using $(\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/(|\alpha_{1,1}| + \delta))\alpha_{1:2,1:2}$, for a small $\delta > 0$.

3.6. Numerical experiments.

3.6.1. Experiments without noise. Figures 10, 11, 12 and 13 illustrate the case of three point-like scatterers in a configuration identical to that in figures 6, 7 and 8. The dipoles are located at $(-7\lambda_0, 7\lambda_0, L)$, $(7\lambda_0, 7\lambda_0, L)$ and $(2\lambda_0, -2\lambda_0, L+7\lambda_0)$. Their polarizability tensors are 3×3 symmetric complex matrices, with entries given in appendix B. We use the reconstruction formula (63) to recover the 2×2 block $\alpha_{i;1:2,1:2}$ of each dipole. The Frobenius norms of the cross-range polarization tensors are approximately 3.9, 3.5 and 4.5, respectively.

In figures 10 and 11, we visualize $\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}\|$ in the cross-range (figure 10) and range (figure 11) of the different dipoles. We use ellipses to visualize the 2 × 2 real symmetric matrices $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2})$ and $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2})$. The principal axis of the ellipses represent the orientation and magnitude of the matrices. The ellipses are plotted at the scatterer cross-range positions (figure 10) and range positions (figure 11). The white and yellow ellipses represent respectively the real part and imaginary part of the exact cross-range polarizability tensors. The dashed black and purple ellipses are those associated with the reconstructed quantities (real and imaginary, respectively).

We observe that the Frobenius norm $\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i;1:2,1:2}\|$ is well estimated for all dipoles in both range and cross-range. The focal spot is consistent with the Rayleigh criterion $\lambda_0 L/a = 5\lambda_0$ in the cross-range (figure 10) and with $2\pi c/B = \lambda_0$ in the range (figure 11). Furthermore, in figure 10, the image decays away from the scatterer positions faster than in passive imaging (see figures 6, 7 and 8) which confirms the asymptotics (29) and (56). Finally the 2×2 matrices $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2})$ and $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2})$ are well reconstructed at the scatterer positions. Their corresponding ellipses agree in both range and cross-range.

To show the stability of the reconstructions in the focal spot we display in figures 12 and 13 the corresponding ellipses at locations (in range and cross-range) around the focal spot of one particular dipole. These images (and figures 14, 15 and 17) were obtained with a modified version of the plot_tensor_field function in [24]. We emphasize that the image in range (figure 13) is stable in depth because we used the correction explained in section 3.5.2. In figures 12 and 13, we use ellipses to visualize the matrices Re($(\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|) \alpha_{1:2,1:2}$) (left) and Im($(\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|) \alpha_{1:2,1:2}$) (right) in the vicinity of the cross-range (figure 12) and range position (figure 13) of the dipole located at $(7\lambda_0, 7\lambda_0, L)$. The color of the ellipses is proportional to the Frobenius norm of $||\alpha_{i;1:2,1:2}||$. Comparing these ellipses to the exact ones of figures 10 and 11 confirms that the correction suppresses the oscillation in depth and gives a stable reconstruction of $\alpha_{1:2,1:2}$, up to a complex sign.



FIGURE 10. Image of $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}|$ (color scale). Visualization of Re($(\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}$) with ellipses (white for the exact one and black for the reconstructed one) and of Im($(\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}$) (yellow ellipse for the exact one and purple ellipse for the reconstructed one) at the scatterer cross-range position in the plane z = L (left) and the plane $z = L + 7\lambda_0$ (right).



FIGURE 11. Image of $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}|$ (color scale). Visualization of Re($(\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}$) with ellipses (white for the exact one and black for the reconstructed one) and of Im($(\overline{\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}}/|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1,1}|) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}$) (yellow ellipse for the exact one and purple ellipse for the reconstructed one) at the scatterer range position in the plane y = 0 (left) and the plane $y = -2\lambda_0$ (right).

3.6.2. Experiments with noise. For this experiment, the array \mathcal{A} is a square containing $N \times N$ collocated sources and receivers and that we have N_{freq} equally spaced frequency samples in the band $\omega_0 + [-B/2, B/2]$. To simulate noise in the measurements, we add a $3N \times 3N$ matrix $\mathcal{W}(\omega_n/c)$ with zero mean uncorrelated Gaussian distributed entries $\mathcal{N}(0, \epsilon p_{\text{avg}})$ to the data $\Pi(\omega_n/c)$ defined in (45), where $n = 1, \ldots, N_{\text{freq}}$. The matrices for each frequency are uncorrelated. As in [10], we choose to fix the level of noise ϵ with respect to the average power p_{avg} received by



FIGURE 12. Visualization of $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|) \alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (left) and $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|) \alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (right) in the vicinity of the dipole placed at $(7\lambda_0, 7\lambda_0, L)$ in the plane z = L.



FIGURE 13. Visualization of $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|) \alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (left) and $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|) \alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (right) in the vicinity of the dipole placed at $(7\lambda_0, 7\lambda_0, L)$ in the plane $y = 7\lambda_0$.

the array of the signal on frequency band, namely:

$$p_{\text{avg}} = \frac{1}{(3N)^2 N_{\text{freq}}} \sum_{n=1}^{N_{\text{freq}}} \left\| \Pi\left(\frac{\omega_n}{c}\right) \right\|^2,$$

where $\|\cdot\|$ stands for the Frobenius norm. The expected noise power is given by

$$p_{\text{noise}} = E\left[\sum_{n=1}^{N} \left\| \mathcal{W}\left(\frac{\omega_n}{c}\right) \right\|^2 \right] = (3N)^2 N_{\text{freq}} \epsilon p_{\text{avg}}.$$

The signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) in decibels (dB) is then

$$SNR = 10 \log_{10} \left(\frac{p_{\text{noise}}}{p_{\text{avg}}} \right) = 10 \log_{10}(\epsilon).$$

Figures 14 and 15 reproduce the numerical experiments of figures 12 and 13 but with a SNR of 10dB (i.e. the noise power is 10 times larger than the signal power). With noise present, the ellipse orientations agree with the true ones at the focal spot, but are significantly different away from the focal spot, where the image magnitude is also small. We conclude that Kirchhoff imaging is robust to relatively large measurement noise (as in acoustics, see e.g. [10]).



FIGURE 14. Experiment identical to that in figure 12, but with noise in the data and SNR of 10 dB.



FIGURE 15. Experiment identical to that in figure 13, but with noise and SNR of 10 dB.

3.6.3. Experiments with an extended dipole distribution. In the figures 16, 17 and 18 we deal with the case of a volumetric polarizability tensor distribution within a cube of side $5\lambda_0$, with center (0, 0, L). This distribution is uniform and generated by a set of dipoles separated by a wavelength of $\lambda_0/4$. All the dipoles are assumed

to have the same 3×3 complex symmetric polarizability tensor

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_* = \begin{bmatrix} 2+1i & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 2+2i & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1+1i \end{bmatrix}.$$

The array \mathcal{A} , the central frequency f_0 and the frequency band are identical to the ones of figure 5.

In figure 16 (left), we observe a good reconstruction of the location of the scatterer in the cross-range plane z = 0. The right figure shows that only the edges of the cube are imaged in the range direction. Thus the Kirchhoff imaging function detects only the discontinuities of an extended scattered (as in acoustics [8]). In contrast to point-like scatterers, the information about the norm $\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}\|$ is lost here but one still observes a very good estimation of the orientations after normalization and up to a complex sign. The quality of the reconstruction can also be seen in figures 17 and 18 which shows the reconstructed tensors are stable in the vicinity of the scatterer in cross-range (figure 17) and range (figure 18).



FIGURE 16. Image of $\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2}\|$ (color scale) in the plane z = L (left) and in the plane y = 0 (right). Visualization of Re $(e^{i\theta}\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2})$ with ellipses (white ones for the exact tensor and black ones for the reconstructed one) and of Im $(e^{i\theta}\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1:2,1:2})$ (yellow ellipses for the exact tensor and purple ones for the reconstructed one). These ellipses are represented at the center of the cube (left) and at the centers of the $z = \pm 2.5\lambda_0$ faces (right).

4. Summary and future work

We used the Fraunhofer asymptotic to study an electromagnetic version of the Kirchhoff imaging function for both the passive and active imaging problems. The images we obtain are vector (resp. matrix) valued in the passive (resp. active case). The norm of these images behaves like the images in acoustics, meaning that we get identical resolution estimates for the position of well-separated dipoles (or scatterers) as those we would obtain in acoustics. The vector (or matrix) valued image contains information about the polarization vector (or polarizability tensor)



FIGURE 17. Visualization of $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|)\alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (left) and $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|)\alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (right) in the plane z = 0.



FIGURE 18. Visualization of $\operatorname{Re}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|)\alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (left) and $\operatorname{Im}((\overline{\alpha_{1,1}}/|\alpha_{1,1}|)\alpha_{1:2,1:2})$ (right) in the plane y = 0.

of the point sources (or small scatterers) in the medium. We show how to extract this information to stably image these quantities. Our asymptotic reveals that we can only expect to stably recover the cross-range components of these quantities. The range components are lost.

This is a first step to understand what quantities can be imaged in an idealized case. Indeed, the data we used may be complicated to acquire in practice, as we need to measure at least the two cross-range components of the electric field in the passive case. In the active case we also need experiments where one can control the cross-range polarization vector components of the array sources.

We are currently adapting this imaging technique to a case where only crosscorrelations of the electric field are available at the array, i.e. we assume we can only measure the *electric coherence matrix*

$$C(\boldsymbol{x}_{r}, \boldsymbol{x}_{s}, \tau)_{i,j} = [\langle E_{i}^{*}(\boldsymbol{x}_{r}, t) E_{j}(\boldsymbol{x}_{s}, t+\tau) \rangle]_{i,j}, \text{ for } i, j = 1, 2$$

for all points $\boldsymbol{x}_r, \boldsymbol{x}_s$ in the array. Here $\langle \cdot \rangle$ represents averaging over realizations of the electromagnetic field (which is assumed stationary so there is no dependence on t). This data is equivalent to knowing the *Stokes parameters* (see e.g. [18]), which characterize the polarization of electromagnetic waves. The technique we plan to use is a generalization of the imaging with cross-correlations method for acoustics in [7] to the Maxwell equations.

APPENDIX A. PROOF OF LEMMA 2.2

Proof. We consider a point $\vec{y} = (y, L + \eta)$ with $y = (y_1, y_2)$. In cylindrical coordinates the array is given by

$$\mathcal{A} := \left\{ \vec{\boldsymbol{x}}_r = (r, \theta, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid 0 \le r \le a \text{ and } \theta \in [0, 2\pi) \right\}$$

Thus, it leads to the following expression of $\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}_*, \vec{y}_*; k)$ in cylindrical coordinates:

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{H}}(\vec{y}_{*}, \vec{y}_{*}; k) = \frac{1}{(4\pi L)^{2}} \int_{0}^{a} r dr \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\theta \, \mathbb{P}(\vec{x}_{r}, \vec{y}_{*}) \\ = \frac{a^{2}}{16\pi L^{2}} \mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{(4\pi L)^{2}} \int_{0}^{a} r dr \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\theta \, \frac{(\vec{x}_{r} - \vec{y}_{*})(\vec{x}_{r} - \vec{y}_{*})^{\top}}{\|\vec{x}_{r} - \vec{y}_{*}\|^{2}}$$
(66)

with

$$\vec{x}_r - \vec{y}_* = (r\cos(\theta) - y_{1,*}, r\sin(\theta) - y_{2,*}, -L - \eta_*).$$

Integrating in θ and using the Fraunhofer asymptotic to simplify the resulting expression and finally integrating in r leads to

$$\frac{1}{(4\pi L)^2} \int_0^a r dr \int_0^{2\pi} d\theta \, \frac{(\vec{x}_r - \vec{y}_*)(\vec{x}_r - \vec{y}_*)^\top}{\|\vec{x}_r - \vec{y}_*\|^2} \tag{67}$$

$$= \frac{a^2}{L^2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right) & \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b^2}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right) & \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^3}{L^3}\right) \\ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b^2}{L^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^4}{L^4}\right) & \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right) & \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^3}{L^3}\right) \\ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^3}{L^3}\right) & \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{b}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^3}{L^3}\right) & \frac{1}{16\pi} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{h}{L}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2}{L^2}\right) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The formula (23) follows by combining (66), (67) and using the relation: $\mathcal{O}(ha^2/L^3) = \mathcal{O}((kha^4)/(L^4\Theta_a)) = o(a^4/L^4)$.

APPENDIX B. POLARIZABILITY TENSORS USED IN NUMERICAL EXPERIMENTS

In section 3.6, the polarizability tensors that we used are the 3×3 complex symmetric matrices given by

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 2+i & 1 & 0\\ 1 & 2+2i & 0\\ 0 & 0 & (1+i)/2 \end{bmatrix}, \ \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 2+2i & -1i & 1/2\\ -1i & 1+i & 0\\ 1/2 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

and
$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 1+2i & 1 & i/2\\ 1 & 3+2i & 0\\ i/2 & 0 & i/2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Acknowledgements

The work of M. Cassier and F. Guevara Vasquez was partially supported by the National Science Foundation grant DMS-1411577. FGV would like to thank Arnold D. Kim for inspiring conversations about this problem.

References

- H. Ammari and H. Kang. Properties of the generalized polarization tensors. *Multiscale Modeling and Simulation*, 1(2):335–348, 2003. doi: 10.1137/ S1540345902404551.
- [2] H. Ammari and H. Kang. Polarization and moment tensors, volume 162 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer, New York, 2007. ISBN 978-0-387-71565-0. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-71566-7. With applications to inverse problems and effective medium theory.
- [3] H. Ammari and A. Khelifi. Electromagnetic scattering by small dielectric inhomogeneities. Journal de mathématiques pures et appliquées, 82(7):749– 842, 2003. doi: 10.1016/S0021-7824(03)00033-3.
- [4] H. Ammari, M. S. Vogelius, and D. Volkov. Asymptotic formulas for perturbations in the electromagnetic fields due to the presence of inhomogeneities of small diameter II. The full Maxwell equations. *Journal de mathématiques pures et appliquées*, 80(8):769–814, 2001. doi: 10.1016/S0021-7824(01)01217-X.
- [5] H. Ammari, J. Garnier, W. Jing, H. Kang, M. Lim, K. Sø Ina, and H. Wang. Mathematical and statistical methods for multistatic imaging, volume 2098 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Cham, 2013. ISBN 978-3-319-02584-1; 978-3-319-02585-8. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-02585-8.
- [6] H. Ammari, J. Chen, Z. Chen, J. Garnier, and D. Volkov. Target detection and characterization from electromagnetic induction data. *Journal de mathématiques pures et appliquées*, 101(1):54–75, 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.matpur. 2013.05.002.
- [7] P. Bardsley and F. Guevara Vasquez. Kirchhoff migration without phases. Inverse Problems, 32(10):105006, 2016. doi: 10.1088/0266-5611/32/10/105006.
- [8] N. Bleistein, J. K. Cohen, and J. W. Stockwell, Jr. Mathematics of multidimensional seismic imaging, migration, and inversion, volume 13 of Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2001. ISBN 0-387-95061-3. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4613-0001-4. Geophysics and Planetary Sciences.
- [9] L. Borcea, G. Papanicolaou, and C. Tsogka. Optimal waveform design for array imaging. *Inverse Problems*, 23(5):1973–2020, 2007. ISSN 0266-5611. doi: 10.1088/0266-5611/23/5/011.
- [10] L. Borcea, G. Papanicolaou, and F. Guevara Vasquez. Edge illumination and imaging of extended reflectors. SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences, 1(1):75– 114, 2008. doi: 10.1137/07069290X.
- [11] M. Born and E. Wolf. Principles of optics: Electromagnetic theory of propagation, interference and diffraction of light. Pergamon Press, New York-London-Paris-Los Angeles, 1959. ISBN 0521642221.
- [12] M. Brühl, M. Hanke, and M. S. Vogelius. A direct impedance tomography algorithm for locating small inhomogeneities. *Numer. Math.*, 93(4):635–654, 2003. ISSN 0029-599X. doi: 10.1007/s002110200409.

- [13] M. Cassier and C. Hazard. Space-time focusing on unknow scatterers. Wave Motion, 51(8):1254–1272, 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.wavemoti.2014.07.009.
- [14] D. J. Cedio-Fengya, S. Moskow, and M. S. Vogelius. Identification of conductivity imperfections of small diameter by boundary measurements.continuous dependence and computational reconstruction. *Inverse problems*, 14(3):553– 595, 1998. doi: 10.1088/0266-5611/14/3/011.
- [15] M. Cheney and B. Borden. Fundamentals of radar imaging, volume 79 of CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2009. ISBN 978-0-898716-77-1. doi: 10.1137/1.9780898719291.
- [16] D. Colton and R. Kress. Inverse acoustic and electromagnetic scattering theory, volume 93 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer, New York, third edition, 2013. ISBN 978-1-4614-4941-6; 978-1-4614-4942-3. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-4942-3.
- [17] A. J. Devaney. Mathematical foundations of imaging, tomography and wavefield inversion. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2012. ISBN 978-0-521-11974-0. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139047838. URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1017/CB09781139047838.
- [18] L. Mandel and E. Wolf. Optical coherence and quantum optics. Cambridge University Press, 1995. ISBN 978-0-521-41711-2.
- [19] E. A. Marengo and A. J. Devaney. The inverse source problem of electromagnetics: Linear inversion formulation and minimum energy solution. *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, 47(2):410–412, 1999. doi: 10.1109/8.761085.
- [20] G. W. Milton. The theory of composites, volume 6 of Cambridge Monographs on Applied and Computational Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002. ISBN 978-0521781251. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511613357.
- [21] A. Novikov, M. Moscoso, and G. Papanicolaou. Illumination strategies for intensity-only imaging. SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences, 8(3):1547–1573, 2015. doi: 10.1137/140994617.
- [22] L. Novotny and B. Hecht. *Principles of nano-optics*. Cambridge University Press, 2012. ISBN 978-0-521-83224-3.
- [23] P. Ola, L. Päivärinta, and E. Somersalo. An inverse boundary value problem in electrodynamics. *Duke Math. J.*, 70(3):617–653, 1993. ISSN 0012-7094. doi: 10.1215/S0012-7094-93-07014-7.
- [24] G. Peyré. Toolbox image, MATLAB Central. https://www.mathworks. com/matlabcentral/fileexchange/16201-toolbox-image, 2009. Accessed: March 8 2017.
- [25] C. Prada and M. Fink. Eigenmodes of the time reversal operator: a solution to selective focusing in multiple-target media. *Wave Motion*, 20(2):151–163, 1994. doi: 10.1016/0165-2125(94)90039-6.
- [26] M. S. Vogelius and D. Volkov. Asymptotic formulas for perturbations in the electromagnetic fields due to the presence of inhomogeneities of small diameter. *ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis*, 34(4):723–748, 2000. doi: 10.1051/m2an:2000101.
- [27] R. Wong. Asymptotic approximations of integrals. Computer Science and Scientific Computing. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1989. ISBN 0-12-762535-6.

MATHEMATICS DEPARTMENT, UNIVERSITY OF UTAH, SALT LAKE CITY UT 84112 E-mail address: cassier@math.utah.edu

MATHEMATICS DEPARTMENT, UNIVERSITY OF UTAH, SALT LAKE CITY UT 84112 *E-mail address:* fguevara@math.utah.edu